
WTRY Broadcast Schedule Regular Meetings, Wednesday, 6:15 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. Study Meetings, Wednesday, 3:15 p.m. 

 PLANNING COMMISSION 

 MEETING AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 

 
 

Michael W. Hutson, Chair, and Mark Maxwell, Vice Chair 
Donald Edmunds, Philip Sanzica, Robert Schultz, Thomas Strat 

John J. Tagle, Lon M. Ullmann and Mark J. Vleck 

   

November 9, 2010 7:30 P.M. Council Chamber 
   

 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES October 26, 2010 Special/Study Meeting 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items Not on the Agenda 
 
 

SPECIAL USE REQUEST 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
(File Number SU 384) – Proposed LA Fitness, 1501 Maple Lane, South of Maple and West of 
Coolidge, Section 31, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 

 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
6. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 965) – Proposed Alpha Dental Center, 

405 E. Maple Road, Northeast Corner of Maple and Kirkton, Section 27, Currently Zoned O-1 
(Office Building) District 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

 
7. COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE REWRITE – Discussion with Representatives 
 from Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. - Article 4 District Regulations 
 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 
 
9. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk by e-mail at 

clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be made to make 
reasonable accommodations. 

500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
(248) 524-3364 
www.troymi.gov 

planning@troymi.gov 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us


PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT OCTOBER 26, 2010 
  

 
 

 - 1 - 
 

The Special/Study Meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission was called to order by 
Chair Hutson at 7:30 p.m. on October 26, 2010 in the Council Board Room of the Troy City 
Hall. 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: Absent: 
Donald Edmunds John J. Tagle 
Michael W. Hutson 
Mark Maxwell 
Philip Sanzica 
Robert M. Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
Lon M. Ullmann 
Mark J. Vleck 
 

Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
Zachary Branigan, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
 

 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Resolution # PC-2010-10-071 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Edmunds 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 

Yes:  All present (8) 
Absent: Tagle 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2010-10-072 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Schultz 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the October 12, 2010 Regular meeting as 
prepared. 
 

Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Tagle 
 

MOTION CARRIED 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT OCTOBER 26, 2010 
  

 
 

 - 2 - 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 
5. BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS (BZA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Edmunds presented the BZA Report. 

 
 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant indicated there was no October DDA meeting. 
 
 

7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 
 
Mr. Savidant presented the Planning and Zoning Report. 
 
 

STUDY ITEM 
 
8. COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE REWRITE (ZOTA 236) – Discussion 

with Representatives from Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
 
Mr. Branigan presented the following draft Articles: 
 

o Article 4  District Regulations 
 

o Article 5  General Provisions 
 
o Article 9  Development Options 
 
o Article 11 Sustainable Design and Environmental Standards 
 
o Article 13 Site Design Standards 

 
Mr. Savidant led a discussion regarding the draft Zoning District Map. 
 
There was general discussion on all items. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT OCTOBER 26, 2010 
  

 
 

 - 3 - 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 

10. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
Mr. Ullmann commented on the newly constructed cell tower at the southwest 
corner of Square Lake and John R.  Mr. Savidant stated he would take a 
photograph of the tower and email it and the approved site plan and meeting 
minutes to all Planning Commissioners for their consideration. 
 
 

ADJOURN 
 
The Special/Study Meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 10:05 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Michael W. Hutson, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2010 PC Minutes\Draft\10-26-10 Special Study Meeting_Draft.doc 

 



  PC 2010.11.09 
  Agenda Item # 5 
 

 
 
DATE: November 4, 2010 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE 

PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 384) – Proposed LA Fitness, 1501 Maple 
Lane, South of Maple and West of Coolidge, Section 31, Currently Zoned M-1 
(Light Industrial) District 

 
 
The petitioner, Maple Lane Acquisition Co., LLC, submitted the above referenced Special 
Use application for a 48,118 square foot LA Fitness facility and 14,188 square foot 
warehouse facility on the 7.03 acre site.  The applicant requests a 551 space parking 
space reduction from the 970 space requirement.    
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. summarizes the 
application. 
 
Attached reports address the issues of parking space reduction and right hand turn lane on 
Maple Road. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
3. Trip Generation and Turn Lane Evaluation, prepared by PEA. 
4. Parking Analysis for LA Fitness, prepared by PEA. 
5. Parking Analysis and Traffic Analysis, prepared by OHM. 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SU 384 
 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 384  LA Fitness  Sec 31\SU-384 LA Fitness 11 09 10.docx 



PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE 
PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 384) – Proposed LA Fitness, 1501 Maple Lane, 
South of Maple and West of Coolidge, Section 31, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light 
Industrial) District 

 
 

Resolution # PC-2010-11- 
Moved by:  
Seconded by:  
 

RESOLVED, The Planning Commission hereby approves a reduction in the 
number of required parking spaces for the proposed LA Fitness and 
warehouse space to 419 when a total of 970 spaces are required on the site 
based on off-street parking space requirements, as per Article XL.  This 551-
space reduction is justified through a comparison of parking spaces provided 
for similar uses in the area, as outlined in the Parking Analysis prepared by 
PEA and report prepared by OHM.   
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval and Preliminary 
Site Plan Approval for the LA Fitness indoor commercial recreation facility, 
located south of Maple and west of Coolidge (1501 Maple Lane), Section 31, 
within the M-1 zoning district, be granted, subject to the following: 
 
1. Provide documentation of cross access easement to Doyle Drive prior to 

Final Site Plan Approval. 
2. Resolve traffic analysis concerns in a matter acceptable to the City Engineer. 
 
Yes:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / FAILED 

 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 384  LA Fitness  Sec 31\Proposed Resolution 11 09 2010 Revised.doc 



LA Fitness

11/3/2010

Legend

1: 2,879

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

2400480 480Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Hydrography Poly

Hydrography Arc

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Hydrography Poly

Hydrography Arc

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3



LA Fitness

11/3/2010

Legend

1: 2,879

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

2400480 480Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Zoning

(PUD) Planned Unit Development

(B-1) Local Business District

(B-2) Community Business District

(B-3) General Business District

(R-C) Research Center District

(C-F) Community Facilities District

(C-J) Consent Judgment

(E-P) Environmental Protection District

(R-EC) Residential Elder Care

(P-1) Vehicular Parking District

(H-S) Highway Service District

(M-1) Light Industrial District

(O-1) Office Building District

(O-M) Office Mid-Rise District

(OSC) Office Service Commercial District

(CR-1) One Family Residential Cluster District

(R-1A) One Family Residential District

(R-1B) One Family Residential District

(R-1C) One Family Residential District

(R-1D) One Family Residential District

(R-1E) One Family Residential District

(R-1T) One Family Attached Residential District

(R-2) Two Family Residential District

(R-M) Multiple Family Residential Medium Density

(RM-1) Multiple Family Residential District (Low Rise)

(RM-2) Multiple Family Residential District (Mid Rise)

(RM-3) Multiple Family Residential District (High Rise)

Hydrography Poly

Hydrography Arc

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3

I-75

Road Centerline



 
 
 

 Date:  November 5, 2010 
 
 

Special Land Use Review 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
Applicant: Maple Lane Acquisition Co., LLC 
 
Project Name: L.A. Fitness 
 
Plan Date: October 12, 2010 
 
Location: 1501 Maple Lane  
 
Zoning: M-1, Light Industrial District 
 
Action Requested: Preliminary Site Plan Approval and Special Use Approval 
 
Required Information: Deficiencies noted 
 
PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
We are in receipt of a special land use and preliminary site plan submittal for a building 
renovation for an existing facility to be converted to an L.A. Fitness health club and an attached 
warehouse space.  The building will be reduced in size and an adjacent building will be 
demolished and the two building sites combined into a single developed lot. 
 
Location of Subject Property: 
The property is located along Maple Road, immediately west of Doyle Drive.  
 
Size of Subject Property: 
The parcel is 4.86 acres in size. 
 
Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel: 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

2 

The applicant proposes to reduce the size of the existing building by removing a portion of the 
building along the north end.  The remaining square footage will be substantially renovated into a 
fitness club and a warehouse space.  An existing building located to the east will be removed to 
make room for an expanded parking area with proposed access to Doyle Drive. 
 
Current Zoning: 
The property is currently zoned M-1, Light Industrial. Section 28.30.08 permits indoor 
commercial recreation spaces as a use permitted subject to special use approval.  The warehouse 
space is permitted by right in the M-1 District. 
 
Zoning Classification of Adjacent Parcels:  
North: City of Birmingham, multiple family residential. 
South: M-1, Light Industrial, self-storage facility. 
East: M-1, Light Industrial, multiple family residential and retail (consent judgment) 
West: City of Birmingham, office 
 
Future Land Use Plan Designation: 
The property is located in the Transit Center Land Use Plan designation.   
 

AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
Required and Provided Dimensions: 
Section 30.20.09 requires the following setbacks and height limits: 
 

 
Items to be Addressed:  None. 
 
PARKING, LOADING 
 
Proposed Parking: 
The site plan indicates that 419 spaces are proposed, including 9 barrier-free spaces.   
 

 Required: Provided: 

Setbacks   
Front 

(east/Doyle Drive) 50 feet 290.87 feet 

Front 
(north/Maple Road) 50 feet 216.61 feet 

Rear 
(south) 20 feet 68.29 feet 

Side 
(west) 10 feet 10.00 feet 

Building Height 3 stories, 40 feet 40 feet 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

3 

Parking Calculations: 
The parking calculations are as follows. 
 
 

 Required  

Health club 

1 per 50 square feet or 1 for 
every 3 persons at maximum 

occupancy, whichever is 
greater. In this case, 48,118 
sq. ft. requires 962 spaces 

 

Warehouse 

1 space for every 1,700 sq. 
ft. of floor area.  In this case, 

14,188 sq. ft. requires 8 
spaces.   

 

Total Required 970 spaces  

Total Provided 419 spaces, including 9 
barrier-free spaces  

Parking Deficiency: 
The proposed site plan does not meet minimum Ordinance requirements.  The plan includes 419 
spaces where 970 are required, a deficiency of 551 spaces. They have included a parking study 
conducted by Professional Engineering Associates, Inc., which refers to both ULI and ITE 
parking rates.  They state that these sources justify a deviation in that they recommend 337 and 
403, respectively. However, the City engineering consultant, OHM, disagrees that the ULI 
calculations should be used in that the ULI does not provide sufficient detail on how their figures 
were arrived at for this particular use.  The ITE calculations are valid.  OHM does, however, 
disagree with some of the specific methods of Professional Engineering Associates, Inc., but still 
arrives at a similar result.  OHM states that, using ITE data, 408 total spaces would be required, 
11 less than what the applicant is proposing.  
 
The Planning Commission is authorized to modify parking requirements by Section 40.20.12.  It 
states: 
 

The City recognizes that, due to the specific requirements of any given development, 
inflexible application of the parking standards may result in development with parking in 
excess of what is needed. The result may lead to excessive paving and stormwater runoff 
and reduction of area which would be left as open space. Accordingly, the Planning 
Commission may, in the reasonable exercise of discretion, permit deviations and allow 
less parking upon a finding that such deviations are likely to provide a sufficient number 
of parking spaces to accommodate the specific characteristics of the use in question. 
Such finding shall take into consideration the following standards and shall be based 
upon specific facts and information provided by the applicant, and such other 
information the Planning Commission shall determine relevant: 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

4 

A. Nature of use. The nature of the particular use or combination of uses (as the case 
may be), relying upon accepted planning principles with regard to the 
anticipation of parking demand. 

B. Allocation of square footage. The allocation of square footage to and among uses, 
including the anticipation of long-term parking (e.g. grocery or movie theater 
uses), short term parking (e.g. dry cleaners), and/or the absence of parking for 
some portion of the use (e.g. drive-through use). 

C. Impact. 

1. The reasonably anticipated circumstance in the event there is excess 
parking demand where the number of parking spaces available and/or the 
likelihood that parking would occur on major thoroughfares or within 
residential neighborhoods. 

2. The need for and benefit of additional open space or landscaped areas on 
the area, which would not be feasible if the full number of required spaces 
were improved in the face of an apparent lack of need for all such spaces, 
taking into consideration accepted planning principles. 

D. Other specific reasons which are identified in the official minutes of the Planning 
Commission. The Planning Commission may attach conditions to the approval of 
a deviation from off-street parking requirements that bind such approval to the 
specific use in question. 

 
Given the recommendations of the City engineering consultant that the requested deviation is 
warranted, we recommend the Planning Commission approve the request. 
 
Items to be Addressed:  Obtain a parking reduction for the 551 additional required parking 
spaces.  
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
Proposed Circulation: 
The site will have access to Maple Road via a single driveway at the center of the site.  The site 
plan also includes access to Doyle Drive with a driveway there.  Cross access to the landlocked 
self-storage facility to the south is also provided, as is cross access to the office complex to the 
west. Doyle Drive is not a public road.  As a private drive, the applicant would require a cross 
access easement to make the proposed connection. 
 
The applicant has provided a study conducted by Professional Engineering Associates, Inc. 
evaluating turn lanes and trip generation.  The City’s engineer, OHM, has provided its own 
review commenting on the Professional Engineering Associates conclusions. 
 
OHM states that a right turn lane must be provided along Maple Road.  They disagree with the 
assertion of Professional Engineering Associates that the previously existing right turn lane was 
eliminated and not replaced when Maple Road was widened, which supports their opinion that 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

5 

the lane is unnecessary.  OHM states that the reason the lane was not redeveloped was a lack of 
right-of-way due to the Maple Road expansion taking place entirely in the Troy side of the 
centerline.  They state that this project presents an opportunity to replace the lane.  Also, OHM 
state that the RCOC guidance suggests a right-turn taper is needed and would allow for better 
access to the site if there is stacking at the Doyle Drive signal. 
 
Sidewalks 
The site plan includes the preservation of existing sidewalks along Maple Road and provides 
adequate sidewalks around the renovated building to allow for safe access.  No sidewalk is 
provided along Doyle Drive, although Doyle Drive is not a public road and no sidewalk is 
required at this location. 

 
Items to be Addressed:  1.) Provide documentation of cross access easement to Doyle Drive 
prior to Final Site Plan Approval. 2.) Address the concerns of the November 2, 2010 OHM 
review letter. 
 
NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
The site is existing and devoid of significant natural features, with the exception of some existing 
landscaping and a few trees. Please refer to our analysis of site landscaping later in this review. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
A landscape plan has been provided identifying how Ordinance requirements are being met. The 
site does currently have a landscapes greenbelt with mature frontage trees, and the applicant is 
proposing extensive new trees and landscaping throughout the site.  
 
Trees: 
The landscape plan shows the existing greenbelt along Maple Road being preserved, although it 
does not call out specific trees in this area. The frontage along Maple Road is 540 feet, requiring 
18 trees.  While specific trees are not identified, the site plan states that “more than 18 trees” are 
provided. This must be conformed for final site plan and details of existing trees should be 
identified on the landscape plan. 
 
The greenbelt along Doyle Drive has also been provided as if Doyle Drive were a public street.  
We support this approach.  The Doyle frontage is 507 feet (although sheet L-1, in the greenbelt 
notes in the Landscape Requirements Table mistakenly identifies the frontage as 195 linear feet). 
The 507 feet of frontage require 17 trees, which are provided. 
 
Greenbelt:  
A ten (10) foot wide greenbelt has been provided along the Maple and Doyle frontages, and 
required trees are provided as noted above.  
 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

6 

Minimum landscaped area: 
The proposed landscape plan provides 54,417 total square feet of landscaped area, and 30,623 
square feet are required.  The plan exceeds Ordinance requirements. 
 
Items to be addressed: None. 
 
ELEVATION NG NG 
 
Proposed floor plans and elevations have been provided by the applicant.  Building materials 
consist almost entirely of E.I.F.S. and an aluminum sash and glass system.  There are no 
Ordinance limitations on building materials in the M-1 District at this time. 
  
Items to be Addressed: None.  
 
SPECIAL USE REVIEW 
 
For any special land use, according to Section 03.31.04, the Planning Commission shall review 
the request, supplementary materials either in support or opposition thereto, as well as the 
Planning Department’s report, at a Public Hearing established for that purpose, and shall either 
grant or deny the request, table action on the request, or grant the request subject to specific 
conditions. 
 
Required Information 
In the M-1 District, an indoor recreation use is permitted as a special land use, in accordance with 
Section 28.30.08.  The only specific use regulation for indoor commercial recreation centers is 
that parking must be provided in accordance with established Ordinance requirements. See our 
parking analysis earlier in this review for more information in this regard. 
 
Standards of Approval 
Section 03.31.05 states that before approving any requests for Special Use Approval, the 
Planning Commission, or the City Council, where indicated, shall find that: 
 

1. The land use or activity being proposed shall be of such location, size and character as to 
be compatible with the orderly development or use of adjacent land and/or Districts. 

2. The land use or activity under consideration is within the capacity limitations of the 
existing or proposed public services and facilities which serve its location.  

 
We believe the use of this land use as proposed by the site plan (and as it exists today) is of such 
location and character as to be compatible with the orderly development or use of adjacent land 
and/or Districts, and will not exceed the capacity limitations of the existing or proposed public 
services and facilities in the area.   
Items to be addressed: None. 
 



L.A. Fitness – November 5, 2010 
 

7 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
We largely support the proposal as submitted.  The site plan conforms to Ordinance requirements 
and represents a significant improvement to the site and the development of an amenity for the 
neighboring residential areas.  While substantial in scope, the project actually greatly reduces the 
building square footage on the site and provides additional landscaping, required access, and an 
improved facility.  There are several small outstanding elements noted herein, especially with 
regard to the provision of a right-turn lane.   
 
We recommend the Planning Commission grant the required parking modification, preliminary 
site plan, and special use applications conditioned on the resolution of traffic analysis concerns in 
a matter acceptable to the City Engineer. 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 
2009 American Society of Landscape Architects-Michigan Chapter “Firm of the Year” 

 Howell Office 2900 E. Grand River Avenue, Howell, MI  48843 ٠ (517) 546-8583 ٠ Fax (517) 546-8973 
٠ Municipal Engineering ٠ Traffic Engineering٠ Asset Management ٠ Sustainable Design ٠ Geotechnical  Engineering٠ Site Development ٠ Wetland Services٠ 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC.  
CIVIL ENGINEERS / LAND SURVEYORS / LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 

2430 Rochester Court, Suite 100, Troy, MI 48083-1872 
P : (248) 689-9090     www.peainc.com    F : (248) 689-1044 
 

James P. Butler, PE 
President 

David E. Cole, PS 
Vice President  

Wendy E. Graham, PE 
 Vice President 

David N. Hunter, PE, PS, LEED AP 
 Vice President 

 
 

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM    
 
 
To:              Mr. Linden Nelson, Managing Member  DRAFT VIA EMAIL 
 2100 Maple, LLC   linden@nelsonventures.com 
 
From: Michael J. Labadie, PE  
        Timothy J. Likens  
 
Date:      November 2, 2010  
 
Subject:    Proposed LA Fitness  
 City of Troy, Michigan  
 Trip Generation and Turn Lane Evaluation   
 PEA # 2010-207  
   
 
Introduction 
 
The proposed LA Fitness site is located on the southwest quadrant of the intersection of Maple 
Road and Doyle Drive in the City of Troy, Michigan.  LA Fitness would occupy the existing 
building at 1501 Maple Lane, and the existing building at 1495 Maple Way would be demolished 
in order to provide parking for the LA Fitness facility.  Currently, the site has 48,800 square feet 
(SF) of office use and 75,583 SF of warehouse space.  The proposed LA Fitness would occupy 
48,118 SF, with the remaining 14,188 SF of the existing building to be used for personal storage 
only.   
 
The City of Troy has requested the completion of a trip generation analysis and right turn lane 
evaluation for the proposed Maple Road access, as this section of Maple Road is under City 
jurisdiction. Professional Engineering Associates, Inc. (PEA) has completed this analysis and 
evaluation in accordance with Section H-1(b) of the City of Troy Development / Engineering 
Standards and Chapter 41, Section 4.05F of the City Code of Ordinances.  The purpose of this 
memorandum is to outline the results for consideration by the City Engineering and Planning 
Departments.   
 
Trip Generation Forecast 
 
The number of AM peak hour, PM peak hour, and daily trips that are generated by the existing 
land uses and that would be generated by the proposed LA Fitness were forecast based on the 
rates and equations published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers in Trip Generation, 
8th Edition.  A comparison of the site trip generation forecasts is shown in Table 1, which 



 

2 

indicates that the proposed LA Fitness would generate 63 fewer AM peak hour trips and 9 
additional PM peak hour trips as compared to the existing land uses.  Therefore, the impact of 
the proposed redevelopment on site-generated traffic volumes is insignificant.   
 
Table 1
Existing vs. Proposed Land Use
Site Trip Generation 

1

ITE AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Average
Land Use Code Amount Units In Out Total In Out Total Daily Traffic

Existing

Office 710 48,800 SF 93 13 106 23 110 133 768

Warehouse 150 75,583 SF 18 5 23 6 18 24 387

TOTAL 111 18 129 29 128 157 1,155

Proposed

LA Fitness 492 48,118 SF 30 36 66 95 71 166 1,585

DIFFERENCE (81) 18 (63) 66 (57) 9 430

1.  Trip generation based on the Institute of Transportation Engineers' Trip Generation, 8th Edition and Trip Generation Handbook, 2nd Edition  
 
Turn Lane Evaluation 
 
According to the City Development / Engineering Standards, Right turn deceleration lanes will 
be installed on major thoroughfares having four (4) or five (5) lanes of pavement at the 
intersection of driveways for all developments, when the peak hour entering trips generated by 
the site during the street peak hour are equal to or greater than twenty (20) as contained in the 
trip table of the current ITE Trip Generation Rates.  Based on the trip generation forecast shown 
in Table 1, the proposed land use would generate a peak inbound volume of 95 vehicles during 
the PM peak hour.  In order to determine the direction of approach (eastbound versus 
westbound) for inbound site traffic, the directional distribution of PM peak period (4:00 PM to 
6:00 PM) traffic volumes on Maple Road were analyzed.   
 
PEA obtained hourly traffic volume data at the intersection of Maple Road and Doyle Drive from 
the Road Commission for Oakland County (RCOC).  This intersection is controlled by a SCATS 
traffic signal, which is capable of recording traffic volume data by movement.  RCOC provided 
data for a 24-hour period on Tuesday, October 5th, 2010.  These data are attached to this 
memorandum, and indicate a PM peak period directional distribution of 47% eastbound and 
53% westbound on Maple Road adjacent to the subject site.   
 
Based on a PM peak hour forecast of 95 inbound trips and an eastbound trip distribution of 
47%, a peak hour volume of 45 vehicles would turn right from Maple Road into the site 
driveway.  This is a worst-case scenario, as a portion of these inbound trips may utilize Doyle 
Drive to access the site.  According to City Standards, this peak hour right turn volume would 
require the installation of a right turn deceleration lane on Maple Road at the proposed site 
driveway.   
 



 

3 

Additional Information 
 
It is important to note that a right turn deceleration lane approximately 50 feet in length 
previously existed on Maple Road at the site driveway.  When Maple Road was widened from 4 
to 5 lanes, this turn lane was removed.  The existing land uses are forecast to generate 111 
peak hour inbound trips, which is greater than the number of peak hour inbound trips that would 
be generated with the proposed redevelopment.  As the proposed redevelopment would not 
increase the number of right turns from Maple Road as compared to existing conditions, and it 
was previously determined that a right turn lane is not required at this location, the City Engineer 
should consider that a right turn lane not be required for this redevelopment.   
 
In addition, PEA completed an evaluation of the RCOC Warrants for Right Turn Deceleration 
Lane or Taper.  Although this section of Maple Road is not under RCOC jurisdiction, this warrant 
was evaluated to document the specifications for driveway permits applied throughout Oakland 
County, including Maple Road east of Coolidge Highway.  The hourly traffic data provided by 
RCOC indicate that Maple Road carries a two-way 24-hour volume of 24,048 vehicles adjacent 
to the subject site.  Based on an eastbound inbound peak hour right turn volume of 45 vehicles, 
a right turn lane would not be required based on RCOC standards.  The completed RCOC 
warrant is attached.  
 
Conclusions 
 
The ITE trip generation forecast for the proposed LA Fitness indicates that the redevelopment 
would not significantly increase site trip generation.  During the PM peak hour, the site would 
generate 95 inbound trips, with 47% or 45 inbound trips traveling eastbound and turning right 
from Maple Road.  This volume of inbound right turns at the site driveway to Maple Road would 
require a right turn deceleration lane based on City Standards.  However, the City Engineer 
should consider that the existing land uses generate a greater number of peak hour inbound 
trips as compared to the proposed use, and it was previously determined appropriate to remove 
a right turn deceleration lane at this location.  Furthermore, County standards would not require 
the construction of a right turn lane at this location.  Therefore, PEA recommends that the City 
not require the construction of a right turn deceleration lane on Maple Road for this 
redevelopment project.   
 
Any questions related to this turn lane evaluation and memorandum should be addressed to 
Professional Engineering Associates, Inc.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
24-Hour Traffic Volume Data 
RCOC Warrants for Right Turn Deceleration Lane or Taper  
 
 
L:\2010Proj\2010207 LA Fitness\Traffic Analysis\LA Fitness TIA DRAFT 11.2.10.doc 

 



Site:  1182 Tuesday 5-Oct 2010

Calculated 24-Hour Volume Two-way 

Maple & Doyle on Maple Road at site driveway

EB Maple Thru, and Right

Tuesday, 05 October 2010 WB Maple Thru

NB Doyle 1    2 Left, Right NB Doyle Left

WB Maple 3    5 6 Left, Thru, Thru

EB Maple 7    8 9 Thru, Thru, Right

Approach Maple 2-way 24-hour EB WB

1:00 NB Doyle 4 7 - 11 4 4

1:00 WB Maple 4 16 5 25 21 21

1:00 EB Maple 34 10 2 46 46 46

2:00 NB Doyle 5 6 - 11 5 5

2:00 WB Maple 6 15 7 28 22 22

2:00 EB Maple 19 9 4 32 32 32

3:00 NB Doyle 0 0 - 0 0 0

3:00 WB Maple 3 11 2 16 13 13

3:00 EB Maple 7 3 1 11 11 11

4:00 NB Doyle 0 0 - 0 0 0

4:00 WB Maple 0 8 4 12 12 12

4:00 EB Maple 5 2 1 8 8 8

5:00 NB Doyle 0 1 - 1 0 0

5:00 WB Maple 0 10 2 12 12 12

5:00 EB Maple 12 4 1 17 17 17

6:00 NB Doyle 4 11 - 15 4 4

6:00 WB Maple 4 23 5 32 28 28

6:00 EB Maple 33 20 9 62 62 62

7:00 NB Doyle 26 41 - 67 26 26

7:00 WB Maple 5 84 42 131 126 126

7:00 EB Maple 112 90 11 213 213 213

8:00 NB Doyle 51 63 - 114 51 51

8:00 WB Maple 13 275 168 456 443 443

8:00 EB Maple 309 267 19 595 595 595

9:00 NB Doyle 50 77 - 127 50 50

9:00 WB Maple 29 432 270 731 702 702

9:00 EB Maple 449 329 79 857 857 857

10:00 NB Doyle 58 67 - 125 58 58

10:00 WB Maple 44 385 228 657 613 613

10:00 EB Maple 350 315 83 748 748 748

11:00 NB Doyle 76 78 - 154 76 76

11:00 WB Maple 36 296 246 578 542 542

11:00 EB Maple 347 278 105 730 730 730

12:00 NB Doyle 103 113 - 216 103 103

12:00 WB Maple 55 398 292 745 690 690

12:00 EB Maple 418 327 127 872 872 872

13:00 NB Doyle 76 116 - 192 76 76

13:00 WB Maple 75 416 280 771 696 696

13:00 EB Maple 447 372 148 967 967 967

14:00 NB Doyle 96 125 - 221 96 96

14:00 WB Maple 55 447 290 792 737 737

14:00 EB Maple 407 328 108 843 843 843

15:00 NB Doyle 94 143 - 237 94 94

15:00 WB Maple 46 419 282 747 701 701

15:00 EB Maple 386 330 115 831 831 831

16:00 NB Doyle 72 114 - 186 72 72

16:00 WB Maple 47 445 326 818 771 771

16:00 EB Maple 429 335 134 898 898 898

17:00 NB Doyle 64 97 - 161 64 64

17:00 WB Maple 68 431 380 879 811 811

17:00 EB Maple 465 356 110 931 931 931

18:00 NB Doyle 120 118 - 238 120 120

18:00 WB Maple 73 573 680 1326 1253 1253

18:00 EB Maple 505 419 124 1048 1048 1048

19:00 NB Doyle 66 112 - 178 66 66

19:00 WB Maple 63 554 614 1231 1168 1168

19:00 EB Maple 406 346 111 863 863 863

20:00 NB Doyle 107 129 - 236 107 107

20:00 WB Maple 67 306 206 579 512 512

20:00 EB Maple 283 240 90 613 613 613

21:00 NB Doyle 76 80 - 156 76 76

21:00 WB Maple 71 231 123 425 354 354

21:00 EB Maple 203 172 57 432 432 432

22:00 NB Doyle 30 35 - 65 30 30

22:00 WB Maple 49 163 89 301 252 252

22:00 EB Maple 159 123 36 318 318 318

23:00 NB Doyle 27 27 - 54 27 27

23:00 WB Maple 27 74 30 131 104 104

23:00 EB Maple 87 58 12 157 157 157

24:00:00 NB Doyle 11 14 - 25 11 11

24:00:00 WB Maple 8 36 13 57 49 49

24:00:00 EB Maple 73 28 7 108 108 108

TOTAL 24048 PM Peak 1979 2248

47% 53%

Directional Split









 

 

 

 
November 2, 2010 
 
 
Mr. William Huotari, PE  
Deputy City Engineer 
City of Troy 
500 W. Big Beaver Road 
Troy, MI 48084 
 
Subject:  Review of LA Fitness Site Plan,  Parking Analysis and Traffic Analysis 
  OHM JN:  0128-10-0060 
 
 
Dear Mr. Huotari: 
  
We have reviewed the material provided for the LA Fitness development at the corner of Maple 
Road and Doyle Drive.  The site plan, Parking Analysis and Traffic Analysis were all prepared 
by PEA, Inc. 
 
Site Plan 
We have a few comments concerning the site plan which should be addressed. 
 

1. There should be pedestrian connections, one to the north to the non-motorized path 
along Maple Road and one to the east to lead across Doyle Drive. 

 
2. There are locations where parking has the potential to overhang sidewalks, such as 

against the east side of the proposed building.  Where this can occur, the walks should 
be a minimum of 7’ wide. 

 
 
Parking Analysis 
We agree with the finding of the PEA study that the reduction in parking spaces below the City’s 
requirements has merit.  However, the study fails to properly support its findings.  For example, 
the study fails to explicitly account for the parking needs of the remnant warehousing contained 
on this site.  Under the discussion they provide of ITE Parking Rates, PEA casually throws in an 
additional 5 to 10 percent, but does not mention that this may be to cover the warehouse 
parking needs.   
 
The basis for the parking calculations should be ITE’s reference Parking Generation, 3rd Edition.  
ULI does not adequately cover the information needed, and so should not be used.  Given the 
limited amount of data available for the proposed land uses for this site, there are three potential 
methods of utilizing the ITE data sets for anticipating the likely parking demand for this site.  
They would be: 
 

A. Use of the regression equations for the appropriate land use codes, or  
B. Calculate a standard deviation about the mean of the data sets, or 
C. Use the 85th percentile of the range of the data sets. 

 



Mr. William Huotari, P.E. 

October 10, 2008 

Page 2 

For this purpose, we would look at all methods, and calculate the parking generation for both 
the fitness club (Land Use Code 492) and the warehouse (LUC 150).  We would then generally 
use the greatest value of the three calculations.   
 
OHM reviewed both the City’s Ordinance and ITE parking demand rates for the two land uses.  
We found the City’s Ordinance to call for 970 spaces, while ITE points to a peak demand of 408 
spaces.   
 
Based on the fact that the proposed parking supply meets the national demand rates provided 
by ITE, we believe that a deviation should be granted for this site. 
 
 
Traffic Analysis 
We agree with the finding of the PEA Traffic Study that the driveway from the site to Maple 
Road meets the City’s requirement for a right turn lane.  However, we do not support their 
conclusion that a right turn lane does not need to be provided.  Rather, we recommend that the 
developer be required to provide the auxiliary lane.   
 
We believe there are at least two points to support this conclusion.  First, as with the parking 
analysis, the PEA study fails to account for the remnant warehousing contained on this site.  
While the peak hour impact of only 14,188 sq. ft. of warehousing will not be large, it will 
nonetheless add to the demand.  The demand in the a.m. tends to be employees arriving in 
personal vehicles.  The p.m. demand of arriving vehicles will be relatively small, but will be a mix 
of personal vehicles and trucking returning to the warehouse.  We acknowledge that the PEA 
studies, both parking and traffic, presume that the warehousing is not an active use.  The 
phrase used was that it was “… to be used for personal storage only.”  This City will have to 
determine if this assertion is to be relied upon.  From our perspective, if the facility exists, it can 
be actively used, which would generate traffic demands that should be accounted for. 
 
Next, PEA believes that not replacing the right turn lane at this driveway when Maple Rd was 
widened from 4 to 5 lanes is significant, proof that there was no need for the lane.  That position 
fails to recognize the project dynamics when the road was widened.  Maple Road is not 
centered on the section line, but biased to the south.  The widening occurred on the Troy side of 
the border due to inadequate right-of-way to the north.  In placing the widening on the south 
side, the result was not having sufficient road right-of-way on the south side to replace such 
auxiliary lanes without huge added expense to the road project.  Forgoing the replacement due 
to ROW impacts and cost does not mean the need was not there.  With the re-development of 
this site, the unmet needs can now be satisfied.  
 
On a side note, providing the evaluation of the right turn lane based on RCOC Warrants for 
Right Turn Deceleration Lane or Taper may be of some academic interest.  But if provided, why 
did PEA not then conclude, as the RCOC guidance would suggest, that this driveway needs a 
right turn taper?  The only real difference between a turn lane and taper is the nominal lane 
storage.  Given the proximity of this driveway to the traffic signal at Doyle, providing the lane 
storage may allow patrons of LA Fitness to get into the site easier when traffic queues along 
Maple when the signal is red. 
 
 
 
 



Mr. William Huotari, P.E. 

October 10, 2008 

Page 3 

If you have any further concerns or questions, please let me know. 
 
Sincerely,  
Orchard Hiltz & McCliment, Inc. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Stephen B. Dearing, PE, PTOE 









Victor Saroki & Associates 

1501 Maple Lane
Troy, Michigan

Elevations
Scale: 3/32" = 1'-0"

10-12-2010

430 N. Old Woodward Avenue / Birmingham, MI  48009
T:  248.258.5707   F:  248.258.5515

LA FITNESS

Nelson Ventures

Proposed North Elevation

Proposed East Elevation



Juice Bar

Kids Klub

Aerobics

Basketball

Pool

Racquetball

Racquetball

Racquetball

Racquetball

Locker
Rooms

Free Weights Spin

Cardio

Circuit

Sales

LA Fitness
48,118 SF

Vacant
14,188 SF

Victor Saroki & Associates 

1501 Maple Lane
Troy, Michigan

Floor Plan
Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

10-12-2010

430 N. Old Woodward Avenue / Birmingham, MI  48009
T:  248.258.5707   F:  248.258.5515

LA FITNESS

Nelson Ventures



  PC 2010.11.09 
  Agenda Item # 6 
 

 
 
DATE: November 4, 2010 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 965) – Proposed 

Alpha Dental Center, 405 E. Maple Road, Northeast Corner of Maple and 
Kirkton, Section 27, Currently Zoned O-1 (Office Building) District 

 
 
The petitioner, Camelia Sandulache, submitted the above referenced Preliminary Site Plan 
Approval application for a 522 square foot addition to a 915 square foot residential 
building.  The applicant proposes a dental office on the site. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. summarizes the 
application. 
 
The applicant will need to seek two variances from the Board of Zoning Appeals.  
Therefore no action will be taken by the Planning Commission at the November 9, 2010 
Regular meeting.  The item will be back before the Planning Commission at a future 
meeting for action. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SP 965 
 
 
G:\SITE PLANS\SP 965  Alpha Dental Center  Sec 27\SP-965 Alpha Dental Center 11 09 10.docx 
 



405 E. Maple, Alpha Dental Center

10/13/2010

Legend

1: 720

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

600120 120Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Hydrography Poly

Hydrography Arc

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3



405 E. Maple, Alpha Dental Center

10/13/2010

Legend

1: 1,080

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

900180 180Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Zoning

(PUD) Planned Unit Development

(B-1) Local Business District

(B-2) Community Business District

(B-3) General Business District

(R-C) Research Center District

(C-F) Community Facilities District

(C-J) Consent Judgment

(E-P) Environmental Protection District

(R-EC) Residential Elder Care

(P-1) Vehicular Parking District

(H-S) Highway Service District

(M-1) Light Industrial District

(O-1) Office Building District

(O-M) Office Mid-Rise District

(OSC) Office Service Commercial District

(CR-1) One Family Residential Cluster District

(R-1A) One Family Residential District

(R-1B) One Family Residential District

(R-1C) One Family Residential District

(R-1D) One Family Residential District

(R-1E) One Family Residential District

(R-1T) One Family Attached Residential District

(R-2) Two Family Residential District

(R-M) Multiple Family Residential Medium Density

(RM-1) Multiple Family Residential District (Low Rise)

(RM-2) Multiple Family Residential District (Mid Rise)

(RM-3) Multiple Family Residential District (High Rise)

Hydrography Poly

Hydrography Arc

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3



 
 
 

 Date:  November 4, 2010 
 

Preliminary Site Plan Review 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
Applicant: Camelia Sandulache 
 
Project Name: Alpha Dental Center 
 
Plan Date: October 10, 2010 
 
Location: 405 East Maple Road  
 
Zoning: O-1, Office Building District 
 
Action Requested: Preliminary Site Plan Approval 
 
Required Information: Deficiencies noted 
 
 
PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
We are in receipt of a preliminary site plan which includes a site plan, landscaping plan, 
topographic survey, lot survey, photometric plan, perspective drawing, proposed floor plan, and 
exterior elevations.   
 
Location of Subject Property: 
The property is located on the north side of Maple Road between Rochester Road and Livernois 
Road, on the corner of Maple Road and Kirkton Avenue. 
 
Size of Subject Property: 
The parcel is 0.17 acres in size. 
 
 
 



Alpha Dental, November 4, 2010 

2 

Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel: 
The applicant proposes to build an addition to an existing building for the purpose of housing a 
new dental office with its own parking lot. The building is currently 915 square feet, and the 
proposed addition would add 522 square feet.    
 
Current Use of Subject Property: 
The subject property is currently an existing single family home.   
 
Current Zoning: 
The property is currently zoned O-1, Low Rise Office.  
 
Zoning Classification of Adjacent Parcels and Current Land Use:  
North: O-1, Low Rise Office; office building 
South: (across Maple Road) M-1, Light Industrial District; single family home, industrial 
building (former U.S. Computer Exchange) 
East: O-1, Low Rise Office; office building 
West: O-1, Low Rise Office; office building 
 

BUILDING LOCATION AND SITE ARRANGEMENT 
 

The existing building is located at the corner of the site near the street, with a typical residential 
rear yard behind. The proposed layout adds square footage to the rear (north) side of the building, 
and a parking area in what is currently the rear yard.  This rear yard parking area would  have 
access to Kirkton Avenue and cross access to the existing office building complex that wraps 
around the property on the north and east sides.  The preservation of the existing building 
necessitates this design, which effectively uses the small area available on this site. 
 

Items to be Addressed: None.   
 

AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
Required and Provided Dimensions: 
Section 30.20.00 requires the following setbacks and height limits: 
 
For this project, there are two front yards, on Kirkton Avenue and Maple Road, both of which 
require a front yard setback.  Given that this single family home was rezoned for office use, there 
are legal existing nonconformities with regard to setbacks.  The front yard setback on Maple 
Road is unaffected, given that no improvements are proposed along that frontage.  However, the 
Kirkton Avenue front yard and the side yard along the east property boundary will be affected by 
the proposed addition.  Consequently, all the setback requirements are not met.  The applicant 
must obtain variances for the new addition, which encroaches into the front yard setback on the 
west side and the side yard setback on the east side. 
 



Alpha Dental, November 4, 2010 

3 

 
Items to be Addressed: Obtain variances for nonconforming setbacks.  
 

PARKING 
 
Proposed Parking: 
The site plan shows 9 parking spaces, including a barrier free space.     
   
Parking Calculations: 
The parking calculations provided by the applicant are as follows. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The applicant has provided an extra parking space.  The proposed plan meets minimum parking 
requirements. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
Proposed Circulation: 
The site will be accessed from two proposed entrances; one on Kirkton Avenue and a second, 
which will access the existing parking area for the adjacent office property to the east and north.  
This configuration is acceptable and provides adequate access to the small parking area in a 
challenging space. 
  
 
 

 Required: Provided: 

Front  
(to Maple Road R.O. W) 30 Feet 

6 feet (previously existing 
legal nonconformity) 

Front (existing building) 
(to Kirkton Drive R.O.W) 30 Feet 

19 Feet, 6 inches 6 feet 
(previously existing legal 

nonconformity) 
Front (addition) 

(to Kirkton Drive R.O.W) 30 Feet 25 Feet, 6 inches 
Rear  

(to north property line) 20 Feet 67 Feet, 6 inches 
Side 

(to east property line) 20 Feet  4 Feet  

Building Height Maximum of 3 stories or 36 feet. 1 story; 14 feet, 6 inches 

Required Provided 
One (1) space per 100 S.F. of Usable Area 

817/100=8 spaces 
8 spaces plus (1) Barrier Free 

space= 9 spaces  



Alpha Dental, November 4, 2010 

4 

Sidewalks:  
The applicant is proposing two sidewalks around the west (Kirkton Avenue) and south (Maple 
Road) frontages.  The south sidewalk is 8 feet in width, as required, and the west sidewalk is 5 
feet, also as required.  These sidewalks continue existing sidewalks in the vicinity and provide 
sufficient pedestrian access across the site.  The site plan also includes new paved area and a 
walkway connecting the main entrance of the office to the parking area and the Kirkton Avenue 
sidewalk.  
 
Items to be Addressed: None.    
, SETBACKS 
NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
The site is an existing single family home with typical residential landscaping.  The rear yard 
does have four existing trees that would be removed in order to allow for the installation of the 
parking lot.  The landscape plan includes the installation of 5 new trees to meet minimum 
landscaping requirements. The proposed plan would not impact any protected natural features. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
A landscape plan has been provided identifying how Ordinance requirements are being met in 
accordance to the City of Troy Landscape Design and Tree Preservation Standards.  
 
Article 39.20.02 states “All land use buffers, landscaping, screening and open space areas 
required under the terms of this Chapter shall be reviewed by the Planning Department as to 
compliance with the intent of this Chapter, and by the Department of Parks and Recreation as to 
compliance with the Landscape Design and Tree Preservation Standards.” 
 
Trees: 
The landscape plan appears to show 5 existing trees, one of which is along Maple and does not 
appear to be proposed for removal, although it is not identified on the “existing tree schedule” on 
sheet L-1.  There are 4 existing trees that will be removed for the new parking area, but 5 new 
trees will be installed to meet minimum landscaping requirements for the street frontage 
requirements for Kirkton Avenue and Maple Road.  The 5 proposed trees, paired with the single 
existing tree to be preserved (mentioned above) meet the minimum frontage tree requirements. 
 
Greenbelt:  
A ten (10) foot wide greenbelt has been provided along the public street frontages.  
 
Minimum landscaped area: 
The proposed landscape plan provides 810 total square feet of landscaped area, and 562 square 
feet are required.  The plan exceeds Ordinance requirements. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None.  



Alpha Dental, November 4, 2010 

5 

 
LIGHTINGNG NG 
 
The applicant has provided a photometric plan and detail of proposed lighting and indicated the 
proposed location for parking lot luminares on site plan. Lighting is sufficient for the site as 
shown in the preliminary plan, although we are concerned that some light levels appearing on the 
photometric plan which encroach into the adjacent property to the north and east may be 
excessive.  This encroachment would need to be eliminated prior to final site plan review to 
comply with Section 40.25.11, which states: 
 
All lighting used to illuminate any off-street parking area shall be so installed as to be confined 
within and directed only onto the parking area and the property which it serves. Parking structures 
shall be designed so that all architectural and vehicular lighting is shielded or screened from view 
from adjacent properties. No lighting shall be so located or visible as to be a hazard to traffic 
safety. 
 
Items to be Addressed: Eliminate lighting encroachment prior to final site plan approval. 
 
ELEVATION NG NG 
 
Proposed floor plans and elevations have been provided by the applicant.  Building materials 
include brick veneer, typical residential shingles, and E.I.F.S. or saddle siding for a small detail 
over entrances.  Materials are suitable to this type of building. 
  
Items to be Addressed: None.  
 
SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 3.43.01 establishes the requirements for preliminary site plan approval. Required 
elements and detail sufficient to review the preliminary site plan have been provided. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
We support the proposed project, however there are two variances required to permit the project 
to proceed as designed.  We recommend the Planning Commission take no action on the site plan 
as submitted to allow the applicant to pursue these variances and resubmit a site plan addressing 
our comments noted above. 
 
 



Alpha Dental, November 4, 2010 

6 

 
#225-02-10125 
 
 

















PC 2010.11.09 
  Agenda Item # 7 

 
 

 

 
Date: November 5, 2010 
 
To: Planning Commission 
 
From: R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
Subject: COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE REWRITE (ZOTA 236) – Discussion 

with Representatives from Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. - Article 4 District 
Regulations 

 
 
Representatives of Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA) will attend the November 9, 2010 
Regular meeting to discuss draft Article 4 District Regulations.  This article was briefly 
introduced at the October 26, 2010 Special/Study meeting.  Revisions made to the article 
include the following: 
 

• This Article went from approximately 150 pages to 21 pages. 

• Intent statements were revised and strengthened. 

• District names and abbreviations were simplified. 

• All the repetitive specific use regulations were removed and are being incorporated into 
Article 8. 

• All the uses permitted with special conditions were removed, and are now either 
permitted or special. 

• All uses were removed from the district sections and placed in a large, three page table 
with simplified, consolidated use listings. 

• The individual district sections will ultimately have a small, simple graphic like the ones 
we will have for Article 20 (Form Based Codes). 

• The number of districts has been reduced and simplified. 

• Location requirements and most of the district specific development regulations were 
made redundant by the new Site Design Standards and were therefore removed 
entirely. 

 
Please be prepared to discuss these items at the November 9, 2010 Regular meeting. 
 
Attachment: 
 

1. Draft Article 4 
 
cc:  Richard Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 236 Zoning Ordinance Rewrite\PC Memo 11 09 2010.doc 



City of Troy 4 - 1 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

ZONING DISTRICTS AND MAP 
 
 5 
SECTION 4.01 DISTRICTS 
 
 For the purpose of this Chapter, the City of Troy is hereby divided into the following Districts: 
 
 R-1A One-Family Residential District 10 
 R-1B One-Family Residential District 
 R-1C One-Family Residential District 
 R-1D One-Family Residential District 
 R-1E One-Family Residential District 
  15 
 RT One-Family Attached Residential District 
 MR Multiple-Family Residential District  
 UR Urban Residential District 
 
 CF Community Facilities District 20 
 EP Environmental Protection District 
 
 CB Community Business District 
 GB General Business District 
 IB Integrated Industrial and Business District 25 
 
 O Office District 
 OM Office Mixed Use District 
 P Vehicular Parking District 
 RC Research Center District 30 
   
 
SECTION 4.02 MAP 
 
The boundaries of the districts set forth in Section 4.01, Establishment of Districts are shown upon the 35 
map attached hereto and made a part of this Ordinance which map is designated as the Official Zoning 
Map of the City of Troy.  The Zoning Map, along with all notations, references and other explanatory 
information, are available at the City of Troy offices.  
 
 40 
SECTION 4.03 INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
 
Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of any district indicated on the Official Zoning 
Map, the following rules shall apply: 
 45 
A. Boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerlines of streets, highways, or alleys 

shall be construed to follow the centerlines. 



City of Troy 4 - 2 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

B. Boundaries indicated as approximately following platted lot lines shall be construed as following 
the lot lines. 

 
C. Boundaries indicated as approximately following city limits shall be construed as following city 

limits. 5 
 
D. Boundaries indicated as following railroad lines shall be construed to be midway between the 

main tracks. 
 
E. Boundaries indicated as following shorelines shall be construed to follow the shoreline, and in 10 

the event of change in the shoreline shall be construed as moving with the actual shoreline; 
boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerline of streams, rivers, canals, lakes, 
or other bodies of water shall be construed to follow the centerline. 

 
F. Boundaries indicated as parallel to, or extensions of, features indicated in subsections A through 15 

E of this section shall be so construed. 
 
G. Distances not specifically indicated on the zoning map shall be determined by the scale of the 

map. 
 20 
H. Where physical or natural features existing on the ground are at variance with those shown on 

the official zoning map, or in other circumstances not covered by subsections A through G of 
this section, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall interpret the district boundaries. 

 
I. Insofar as some or all of the various districts may be indicated on the zoning map by patterns 25 

which, for the sake of map clarity, do not cover public rights-of-way, it is intended that the 
district boundaries do extend to the center of any public right-of-way. 

 
 
SECTION 4.04 ZONING OF VACATED AREAS 30 
 
Whenever any street, alley or other public way within the City of Troy shall have been vacated by action of 
the City Council, and when the lands within the boundaries thereof attach to and become a part of lands 
adjoining such street, alley or public way, such lands formerly within such vacated street, alley or public 
way automatically, and without further action of the City Council, thenceforth acquire and be subject to the 35 
same zoning regulations as are applicable to lands to which same shall attach, and the same shall be used for 
the same use as is permitted under this Chapter for such adjoining lands. 
 
 
SECTION 4.05 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 40 
 
A. The Districts set forth herein guide the establishment of district boundaries to further the 

objectives of the City of Troy Master Plan.  The intent of each district defines interrelationships 
between conflicting and compatible land uses and between land uses and resources such as 
transportation, utilities, cultural and institutional facilities and the natural environment. 45 

 
B. Except as hereinafter provided, district regulations shall be applied in the following manner: 



City of Troy 4 - 3 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

 
1. Permitted Uses.  Permitted uses shall be permitted by right only if specifically listed as 

permitted uses in the various zoning districts or are similar to such listed uses. 
 
2. Accessory Buildings, Structures, and Uses.  Accessory buildings, structures, and uses are 5 

permitted only if such uses are clearly incidental to the permitted principal uses.  
Accessory buildings, structures, and uses shall not be established or constructed prior to 
construction of the principal building or establishment of the principal use to which it is 
accessory. Accessory buildings, structures, and uses are subject to the provisions of 
Section 5.03. 10 

 
3. Special Uses.  Special land uses are permitted as listed, subject to the procedures set forth 

in Article 7 and any specific standards applicable to a particular use. 
 
C. If a proposed use is not explicitly listed, the Zoning Administrator shall make a determination as 15 

to which listed use the proposed use is most similar to and compatible with, and in which 
district(s) said use shall be permitted.  In making this determination, the Zoning Administrator 
shall consider factors such as peak hourly and average daily traffic generation, noise, light, 
demands on public utility systems and potential environmental impacts.  The Zoning 
Administrator may refer any proposed use to the Planning Commission for determination of the 20 
appropriate district(s) in which said use may be permitted. 

 
 



City of Troy 4 - 4 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.06 ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS R-1A THROUGH R-1E 
 
A. Intent.  The Master Plan recognizes that single-family residential neighborhoods are vital 

components of the City, and comprise the majority of the land area within the City.  The intent of the 
R-1A through R-1E Districts is to provide areas for single-family dwellings with the primary 5 
distinction being a range of densities, implemented through varying lot sizes.  The R-1A through R-
1E Districts are further intended to preserve and improve upon the quality of residential 
neighborhoods while permitting a limited number of other compatible uses which support residential 
neighborhoods. 

 10 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the R-

1A through R-1E Districts. 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements. The following dimensional requirements shall apply to the R-1A 

through R-1E Districts: 15 
 

Minimum Lot Size 
Per Dwelling Unit 

Maximum 
Height  

Minimum Yard Setback (R) 
(Per Lot in Feet) Minimum 

Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 

Feet) 

Maximum 
% 

of Lot 
Area 

Covered  
by 

Buildings 

Use 
District 

Area  
in Sq. 

Ft. 

Width 
In Ft. 

In  
Stories 

In 
Feet 

Front Sides Rear 

 Least 
One 

Total 
Two  

R-1A  
2½ 
2½ 

25 
25 

40 
40 

15 
15 

30 
30 

45 
45 

1,400 
1,400 

30% 
30% 

No Sewer 30,000 150 
Sewer 21,780 120 
R-1B  

2½ 
2½ 

25 
25 

40 
40 

15 
10 

30 
25 

45 
45 

1,400 
1,400 

30% 
30% 

No Sewer 21,780 110 
Sewer 15,000  100 
R-1C  

2 
2 

25 
25 

30 
30 

15 
10 

30 
20 

40 
40 

1,200 
1,200 

30% 
30% 

No Sewer 21,780 110 
Sewer 10,500 85 
R-1D  

2 
2 

25 
25 

25 
25 

15 
8 

30 
20 

40 
40 

1,000 
1,000 

30% 
30% 

No Sewer 21,780 110 
Sewer 8,500 75 
R-1E  

2 
2 

25 
25 

25 
25 

15 
5 

30 
15 

35 
35 

1,000 
1,000 

30% 
30% 

No Sewer 21,780 110 
Sewer 7,500 60 

Footnote:  Setbacks from major thoroughfares: Whenever a lot or acreage parcel abuts a major thoroughfare as established by the Master 
Thoroughfare Plan adopted in accordance with Act 285, Public Acts of 1931, as amended, the yard setback abutting said major thoroughfare shall 
be at least fifty (50) feet from the existing or Master Thoroughfare Plan right-of-way line, whichever is greater. This ordinance does not prohibit 
expansion behind the fifty (50) foot setback. This requirement shall not apply to subdivisions for which Tentative Approval was granted prior to 20 
January l, 1976. 
 
  1. The side yard abutting upon a street shall not be less than the greater of the side yards 

required for the District in which located when there is a common rear yard 
relationship in the block and a common side yard relationship with the block directly 25 
across the common separating street. In the case of a rear yard abutting a side yard or 
when a side yard is adjacent to a front yard across a common separating street, the 
side yard abutting a street shall not be less than the minimum front yard of the 



City of Troy 4 - 5 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

District in which located, and shall be considered as a front yard. 



City of Troy 4 - 6 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.07  RT ONE-FAMILY ATTACHED RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT  
 
A. Intent. The intent of the RT, One-Family Attached Residential District is to provide medium density 

residential areas in those areas where attached forms of residential development achieves the 
objectives of the Master Plan. The District is designed primarily to permit attached residential 5 
dwellings which may serve as a transition between high intensity or non-residential use areas, and 
lower density residential land use areas.  The RT District is further intended to provide medium 
density residential development in compact areas so as to encourage walkability. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the RT 10 

District. 
 
C. Development standards. 
 

1. In the course of reviewing plans for development, the Planning Commission may require that 15 
the dwelling unit elevations and orientation be modified or varied in order to minimize the 
repetitive visibility of garage entrances from the street at the front of the units. This may 
include requiring rear entry for residential units. 

 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply to the RT 20 

District: 
 

Minimum Lot Size 
Per Dwelling Unit 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback 

Minimu
m Floor 

Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 

Feet) 

Maximu
m % 

of Lot 
Area 

Covered  
by 

Buildings 

Use 
District 

Area  
in Sq. 

Ft. 

Width 
in Ft. Per Lot 

Or Unit In 
Platted 

Subdivisions or 
Site 

Condominiums 

Frontage Per 
Dwelling Unit 

in Ft. for 
Traditional 

Condominium 
 Projects (or 

multiple 
buildings on 
one parcel) 

In  
Stories 

In 
Feet 

Front Sides Rear 

 Least 
One 

Total 
Two  

R-1T 

2½ 
2½ 

25 
25 

25 
25 

15 
10 

30 
20 

35 
35 

1,000 
1,000 

30% 
30% 

No 
Sewer 15,000 75 NA 
Sewer 5,000 40 20 

 
All units that abut a major thoroughfare shall have a rear or side yard relationship to said thoroughfare, and such yards shall not 
be less than fifty (50) feet in depth as measured from the right-of-way line of the thoroughfare as indicated on the Master 25 
Thoroughfare Plan. The Planning Commission may modify the dwelling unit orientation, or relationship to a major thoroughfare, 
when they determine that the parcel size and configuration are such that the rear or side yard relationship would be impractical or 
overly restrictive, and a more desirable residential environment can be created by permitting a front yard relationship to the 
thoroughfare. 
 30 
All units that abut a freeway shall have a yard setback of not less than seventy-five (75) feet in depth as measured from the right-
of-way line of the freeway. 
 
All units that abut a secondary thoroughfare shall have a yard setback of not less than fifty (50) feet in depth as measured from 
the right-of-way line of the thoroughfare as indicated on the Master Thoroughfare Plan. 35 



City of Troy 4 - 7 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

 
  1. The side yard abutting upon a street shall not be less than the greater of the side yards 

required for the District in which located when there is a common rear yard 
relationship in the block and a common side yard relationship with the block directly 
across the common separating street. In the case of a rear yard abutting a side yard or 5 
when a side yard is adjacent to a front yard across a common separating street, the 
side yard abutting a street shall not be less than the minimum front yard of the 
District in which located, and shall be considered as a front yard. 

   
  2. In an R-1T District, front, side, or rear yards need not refer to spacing between 10 

buildings for a planned development of two (2) or more buildings on the same 
parcel. In such cases the minimum distance between any two (2) buildings shall be 
twenty (20) feet. 

 
  3. Residential structure height may be increased beyond twenty-five (25) feet provided 15 

the following conditions are met: 
 
   a. Heights up to twenty-seven (27) feet shall be approved when attic areas over 

2,000 square feet are separated into areas of no more than 2,000 square feet 
and have no eave or cornice vents directly above exterior openings. 20 

 
   b. Heights over twenty-seven (27) feet and up to thirty-two (32) feet shall be 

approved when the structure is fully protected with an approved fire 
suppression system and fire retardant materials are used for roof framing and 
sheathing. 25 

 
 



City of Troy 4 - 8 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.08  MF MULTIPLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The intent of the MF, Multiple Family Residential District, is to provide for multiple family 

residential development located in areas which are compatible with single-family residential districts 
and are adequately served with public utilities and services. This District requires significant open 5 
space which will enhance the residential desirability and compatibility of the subject properties and 
adjacent low density residential areas.  This District is also intended to allow higher-density projects 
which will complement and support mixed-use areas of the City, the form-based districts of the City, 
or one another. 

 10 
 Development in the MF District can offer an urban character while serving as transitional zones 

between areas of higher and lower intensity of development. The MF District is further provided to 
accommodate the older multiple-family areas of the City, which were developed to serve the need 
for a variety of housing types in an otherwise predominantly low-density, single-family community. 

 15 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.____ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the 

MF District. 
 
C. Development Standards. 
 20 

1. In MF Districts, the site area shall contain a minimum open space area (apart from buildings, 
parking and drives or loading areas) equivalent to 450 square feet of land area per dwelling 
unit within the development. 

 
2. In the MF District, the maximum length of any building up to four stories in height shall not 25 

exceed one hundred eighty (180) feet, measured along any exterior elevation. The length of a 
building five to eight stories in height shall not exceed four times its height. 

 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply to the MF 

District: 30 
 

Maximum Density Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimum 

Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 

Feet) 

Maximum 
% 

of Lot 
Area 

Covered  
by 

Buildings 

Units per Acre In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides Between 

buildings 

24 8 100 equal to the height of the structure 30 

Efficiency 
or 1-BR-600 

2-BR-800 
3-BR-1000 
4-BR-1200 

35% 

 
 



City of Troy 4 - 9 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.09 UR URBAN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The Troy Master Plan recognizes that certain areas of the City may be conducive to high-

density residential dwellings, particularly when located in close proximity to more intense mixed use 
and non-residential development.  The intent of the UR District is to provide high-density multiple-5 
family housing which provides for an urban character, supports transit, and encourages walkability. 

 
In addition to high-density residential dwellings, the UR District permits a limited number of non-
residential uses which are compatible with and supportive of a residential environment. 

 10 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the UR 

District. 
 
C. Development Standards. 
 15 

1. In UR Districts, the site area shall contain a minimum open space area (apart from buildings, 
parking and drives or loading areas) equivalent to 450 square feet of land area per dwelling 
unit within the development. 

 
2. In the UR District, the maximum length of any building up to four stories in height shall not 20 

exceed one hundred eighty (180) feet, measured along any exterior elevation. The length of a 
building five to eight stories in height shall not exceed four times its height. The maximum 
length of a building of nine stories or greater in height shall not exceed three times its height. 

 
D. Dimensional Requirements. For all developments in the UR District, the following dimensional 25 

requirements shall apply: 
 

Maximum Density Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimum 

Floor Area 
Per Unit 
(Square 

Feet) 

Maximum 
% 

of Lot 
Area 

Covered  
by 

Buildings 

Units per Acre In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides Between 

buildings 

35 No limit 0 30 

Efficiency 
or 1-BR-600 

2-BR-800 
3-BR-1000 
4-BR-1200 

35% 

 
 

30 



City of Troy 4 - 10 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.10 CF COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The CF, Community Facilities, District is intended to provide areas for those public, 

quasi-public, or private institutional and service uses necessary to serve the cultural, educational, 
and physical needs of the community. The unique nature and requirements of the uses contained 5 
within this District, and their need for a location within the residential portion of the community, 
warrant the establishment of a separate zoning classification which contains land use controls 
that will insure that such uses will be compatible with adjacent land uses and not contrary to the 
spirit and purpose of this ordinance. 

 10 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the 

CF District. 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply to the CF 

District: 15 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback 

Maximum 
% 
of Lot 
Area 
Covered  
by 
Buildings 

In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides Between 

buildings 

2 25 50 or equal to that of the abutting 
single-family zoning district 30 30% 

   
  1. In CF Districts, parking shall not be permitted in the front yard. 
 
 20 



City of Troy 4 - 11 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.11 EP ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent.  Natural features and open space areas constitute important physical, aesthetic, recreation 

and economic assets of the City. 
 5 

Therefore, the City of Troy has enacted a series of development options and Zoning Districts which 
have, as a portion of their intent, the conservation, preservation and provision of open space and 
natural resource areas.  Areas such as flood plains also exist wherein the limitation or prohibition of 
alteration or development is essential to the public health, safety and welfare.  The intent of the EP 
Environmental Protection District is to act in concert with these development options and Zoning 10 
Districts and to recognize other areas warranting preservation, conservation, or protection, in such a 
manner as to: protect for the protection, preservation, use, and maintenance of natural resource areas, 
minimizing disturbance to them, and to prevent damage resultant from their loss; protect these 
natural resource and open space areas for their economic support of property values when allowed to 
remain in an undisturbed natural state; provide for the paramount public concern for these natural 15 
resource areas in the interest of health, safety, and the general welfare of the residents of the City of 
Troy; and promote the public health, safety, and general welfare by preventing or minimizing loss or 
damage to property, and personal injury, due to flooding. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the EP 20 

District. 
 
C. Location standards.  In order to achieve the intent of this District, the EP, Environmental 

Protection District, may be applied to the following types of property: 
 25 

1. Privately or publicly owned property containing significant natural assets or features. 
 
2. Privately owned property consisting of those portions of a development area which are or 

will be established as open space or natural preserves under the terms of development 
requirements contained herein or through private actions achieving the same purpose. 30 

 
3. Flood plains or flood way areas designated or specified by related City, County or Federal 

standards or programs. 
 
4. Wetlands, determined by engineering and/or soil surveys, whose inherent conditions 35 

preclude development in a normal manner. 
 
5. Privately owned property committed for use for non-commercial outdoor recreation 

purposes. 
 40 

D. District Standards. 
 

1. Lands zoned in the EP, Environmental Protection classification, which are provided in 
conjunction with residential developments, shall be permitted to be used in the calculation of 
density for such projects, subject to applicable provisions of this Chapter. The conservation 45 
and protection of irreplaceable natural resource areas from pollution, impairment, or 
destruction shall remain a paramount factor in the design and implementation of such 



City of Troy 4 - 12 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

projects. 
 
2. General maintenance of the lands and waters contained within this zoning classification shall 

be the responsibility of the titleholder, unless otherwise provided for by a recorded document 
acceptable to the City and the titleholder. 5 

 
3. The City may make reasonable entry upon such areas included in this District for the 

purpose of making any survey, investigation or other study contemplated by this ordinance. 
Any investigation of any natural or artificial impairment or hazard may be made by the City, 
either on its own initiative, or on the written request of any three (3) titleholders of land 10 
having a real estate interest in the land wherein the impairment or potential hazard is located, 
or on the written request of a related property owner's association. 

 
4. No building or structure, either permanent or temporary, shall be erected on land zoned in 

the Environmental Protection classification, except as otherwise provided in this Article. 15 
Any existing structure or use existing at the time of establishment of the EP District, which is 
not in conformity with the provisions of the Article, may be continued subject to the general 
provisions for non-conforming uses or structures. 

 
5. It is the intent of this section that trees, shrubs, undergrowth and the like, shall remain in 20 

their natural state, or shall be maintained in accordance with a plan as approved by the 
Zoning Administrator or his designated representative, and shall be cut or removed only 
when such is determined to be dangerous or diseased, or when removal is necessary to carry 
out normal maintenance or to implement a use approved under the provisions of this 
Ordinance. No permit shall be required for the removal of dead, diseased, and/or other 25 
damaged trees or woody vegetation, provided that such removal or trimming is 
accomplished through the use of standard forestry practices and techniques. 

 
6. Any plan proposing the removal of healthy plant materials or alteration, grading, filling or 

utility installation shall be subject to the approval of the Zoning Administrator or his 30 
designated representative. The plant material removal and site alteration actions referred to 
herein are not intended to include normal placement, maintenance and removal of landscape 
materials. The provisions of this section are not intended to preclude grading or site 
alterations necessary to eliminate drainage problems or other problems or nuisance site 
conditions. In their consideration of such proposals or site alterations, the approving 35 
authority specified herein shall make every effort to minimize the negative effects of such 
actions on the related natural features, in keeping with the intent of this section. 

 
7. Actions to remove healthy plant materials in a manner not consistent with this section, in 

areas where EP Zoning has been applied for the purpose of natural feature preservation, shall 40 
constitute a violation of this Ordinance and shall be subject to prosecution in accordance 
with established procedures. 

 
 

45 



City of Troy 4 - 13 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.12  CB COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The CB Community Business District is intended to provide for retail business and service 

uses which primarily meet the day-to-day convenience, shopping, and service needs of persons in 
the immediate residential areas, but to a more limited extent serve a larger consumer population.  5 
The CB Districts are the least intense commercial districts within the City, but do contain a variety 
of potential uses. The CB District is also intended to protect and enhance existing commercial areas 
of the City where non-residential uses are and ought to be the primary use of the property.  The CB 
District is unique in this more limited purpose, as the form based and other mixed-use districts 
within the City also allow and encourage the on-site integration of business and service uses with 10 
office and residential uses. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses within the CB 

District. 
 15 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply in the CB 

District: 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimu

m Floor 
Area in 

Feet In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

2 30 0 30 20 40 500 

   
1. In CB Districts, no building shall be closer than 75 feet from the outer perimeter (property 20 

line) of such District, when such abuts a residential District. No side yards are required along 
the interior side lot lines of the District or along side lot lines in common with the GB or 
IIBD Districts if all related conditions of this Chapter are complied with. If walls of 
structures facing such interior or common side lot lines contain windows, or other openings, 
side yards of not less than ten (10) feet shall be provided. 25 

 
2. When rear yards include parking, loading or property maintenance facilities, necessary 

access to same shall be provided by means of at least one side yard drive. Such drives shall 
have a minimum width of twenty-two (22) feet for two-way service or fifteen (15) feet for 
one-way service, and shall be kept free of any obstruction. 30 

 
 



City of Troy 4 - 14 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.14 GB GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The GB General Business District is intended to provide areas for more diversified retail and 

service uses, a City-wide or regional market area, and/or arterial exposure. The General Business 
Districts are typically located along major thoroughfares and/or adjacent to Community Business 5 
Districts.  The GB District also permits an opportunity for mixed-use development consistent with 
the intent of the Master Plan to support transit and walkability. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses in the GB 

District. 10 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply in the GB 

District: 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimu

m Floor 
Area in 

Feet In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

5 75 0 30 20 40 500 

   15 
1. In GB Districts, no building shall be closer than 75 feet from the outer perimeter (property 

line) of such District, when such abuts a residential District. No side yards are required along 
the interior side lot lines of the District or along side lot lines in common with the CB or IB 
Districts if all related conditions of this Chapter are complied with. If walls of structures 
facing such interior or common side lot lines contain windows, or other openings, side yards 20 
of not less than ten (10) feet shall be provided. 

 
2. When rear yards include parking, loading or property maintenance facilities, necessary 

access to same shall be provided by means of at least one side yard drive. Such drives shall 
have a minimum width of twenty-two (22) feet for two-way service or fifteen (15) feet for 25 
one-way service, and shall be kept free of any obstruction. 

 
 



City of Troy 4 - 15 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.15  IB INTEGRATED INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The City of Troy Master Plan recognizes that a significant area of the City has been devoted 

to manufacturing and industrial uses, but may be conducive to be redeveloped to other uses.  The IB 
District is intended to continue to recognize more traditional manufacturing and industrial use and 5 
encourage redevelopment and reuse of existing buildings and sites by permitting other compatible 
uses. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses in the IB 

District. 10 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply in the IB 

District: 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback 

Maximu
m % 

of Lot 
Area 

Covered  
by 

Buildings 

In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

4 50 50 20 10 20 40 

   15 
1. The front yard shall remain as open space, unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground 

upward except for landscaping, plant materials, or vehicle access drives. Off-street parking 
spaces, aisles, loading areas, and maneuvering lanes shall not be located in such yards. All 
yards abutting upon a public street or freeway shall be considered as front yards for setback 
and open space purposes. 20 

 
2. No building shall be located closer than fifty (50) feet to the outer perimeter (property line) 

of such District when said property line abuts any residential District, public street or 
freeway right-of-way. 

 25 
3. When rear yards include parking, loading, property maintenance, or vehicular building 

access facilities, necessary access to same shall be provided by means of at least one side 
yard drive. Such drives shall have a minimum width of twenty-two (22) feet for two-way 
service or fifteen (15) feet for one-way service, and shall be kept free of any obstruction. 

 30 
 



City of Troy 4 - 16 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.16  O OFFICE DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The O Office District is intended to provide areas for office uses and limited related retail 

and service uses which support an office environment. These districts are typically located along 
commercial corridors in the City, or on the periphery of regionally prominent retail and service 5 
centers. The O District is not so diverse as to include prominent retail or other commercial 
components, which are more broadly available in the similar, but more intense OM, Office Mixed 
Use District, which is specifically designed for that purpose.  Consequently, due to its less intense 
nature, the O District is suited to serve as a conventional transitional zone or in support of more 
regionally prominent areas and districts with a more intense concentration of uses. 10 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses in the O 

District. 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply in the O District: 15 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimu

m Floor 
Area in 

Feet In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

3 36 30 20 20 40 500 

   
 



City of Troy 4 - 17 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.17 OM OFFICE MIXED USE DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent. The OM Office Mixed Use District is intended to provide areas for large office uses which 

serve large numbers of people, as well as the retail, service, restaurant, lodging, and residential 
options that should be provided to support such large employment centers. A major purpose of this 5 
District is to provide areas for buildings of greater height and more intensive land use activity in an 
otherwise low-density community, while providing amenities on-site or within the same immediate 
area to foster a walkable, compact, dense urban environment.  The OM District is also intended to 
encourage the development of uses and services that will support and enhance the marketability of 
the City of Troy as a vibrant and desirable place to work where a high quality of life can be offered 10 
for both workers and residents.  As such, it is a primary role of the OM District, along with the IB, 
RC, CB and GB Districts to preserve the economic vitality of the area. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.___ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses in the OM 

District. 15 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements.  The following dimensional requirements shall apply in the OM 

District: 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimu

m Floor 
Area in 

Feet In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

5 75 30 30 30 60 500 

   20 
 



City of Troy 4 - 18 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.18 RC RESEARCH CENTER DISTRICT 
 
A. Intent.  The RC Research Center District is intended to provide areas for industrial-research and 

office uses in planned developments.  Such districts are to be located and developed so as to 
complement the significant light industrial character of the community, while at the same time 5 
providing for the necessary related non-manufacturing uses such as corporate office and research 
facilities. The RC District is intended to encourage the development of uses and services that will 
support and enhance the office environment in the RC District, primarily for the benefit of tenants 
and local residents. Further, the Research Center District is intended to provide for those major 
industrial-research, and office, and training uses which require proximity to major non-residential 10 
areas, rather than office uses serving a local market, which could reasonably be located in 
commercial and service areas elsewhere in the community. 

 
B. Use Regulations.  Section 4.__ sets forth permitted, accessory, and special land uses in the RC 

District. 15 
 
C. Dimensional Requirements. For all developments in the RC District, the following dimensional 

requirements shall apply: 
 

Maximum 
Height  Minimum Yard Setback Minimu

m Floor 
Area in 

Feet In  
Stories 

In 
Feet Front Rear Sides: 

Least 
Sides: 
Total 

3 40 50 20 20 40 500 

   20 
1. The front yard shall remain as open space, unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground 

upward except for landscaping, plant materials, or vehicle access drives. Off-street parking 
spaces, aisles, loading areas, and maneuvering lanes shall not be located in such yards. All 
yards abutting upon a public street or freeway shall be considered as front yards for setback 
and open space purposes. 25 

 
2. In the RC, Research Center District, when front yards abut a freeway, the Zoning 

Administrator may permit a reduction in the depth of the landscaped portion of such yards 
to a minimum of twenty (20) feet, when it determines that the nature and orientation of the 
subject building is such that screening through the use of a fully landscaped yard is not 30 
necessary, and that a serious development constraint would be created as a result of the 
standard landscaped yard requirement. 



City of Troy 4 - 19 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

SECTION 4.0x SCHEDULE OF USE REGULATIONS 
 
A. In all Districts, no building or land shall be used and no building shall be erected except for one or 

more of the following specified uses, unless otherwise provided in this Article. 
 5 
B. The Schedule of Use Regulations identifies uses as follows: 
 

1. “P” identifies uses permitted as of right. 
 
2. “S” identifies uses requiring special approval. 10 
 
3. “A” identifies accessory uses. 
 
4. “NP” identifies uses not permitted. 

 15 
 

Uses Districts 

 

R
-1

A
 -E

 

R
-1

T 

M
FR

 

U
R

 

C
-F

 

E-
P 

C
B

 

G
B

 

IB
 

O
 

O
M

 

R
C

 

Residential             
One-family dwellings P P P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP
Two-family dwellings NP P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP
One-family attached dwellings NP P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP
Home occupations A A A A A NP A A A NP A NP 
Multiple-family dwellings (2-8 stories) NP NP P P NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Multiple-family dwellings (9+ stories) NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Multiple-family dwellings (on upper floors 
only in a mixed use building) 

NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP P NP 

Senior assisted/independent living P P P P P NP P P P NP P NP 
Live/work units NP S P P NP NP P P P NP P NP 
Recreation             
Publicly owned and operated parks, 
parkways, and recreational facilities 

P P P P P NP P P P P P P 

Forestry / non-commercial nurseries P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Passive outdoor recreation facilities P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Active outdoor recreation facilities S S S S P P P P P P P P 
Golf courses S S S S S NP S S S NP NP NP 
Swimming pool clubs S S S S S NP S S S NP NP NP 
Commercial indoor recreation NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Institutional             
Primary/secondary schools (private) S S S S P NP P P P P P P 
Places of worship S S S S S NP P P P P P P 
Publicly owned/operated office and service 
facilities 

S S S S P NP P P P P P P 

Fine and performing arts facilities NP NP NP NP P NP P P P NP S NP 
Post-secondary schools NP NP NP NP S NP P P P P P P 



City of Troy 4 - 20 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

Uses Districts 

 

R
-1

A
 -E

 

R
-1

T 

M
FR

 

U
R

 

C
-F

 

E-
P 

C
B

 

G
B

 

IB
 

O
 

O
M

 

R
C

 

Bus / transit passenger stations, taxicab 
offices, dispatching centers 

NP NP NP NP P NP P P P P P P 

Retail, Entertainment, and Service             
Restaurants, standard NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Restaurants, fast food NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Restaurants, drive-through NP NP NP NP NP NP S S P NP S NP 
Bar/lounge NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Outdoor dining areas NP NP NP A NP NP A A A NP A NP 
Retail, general NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Retail, large-format NP NP NP NP NP NP S P P NP NP NP 
Shopping centers NP NP NP NP NP NP S P P NP NP NP 
Fitness, gymnastic, and exercise centers NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Building and lumber supply NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Garden centers / nurseries NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Indoor commercial recreation NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Outdoor commercial recreation NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Dance, music, and art studios NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Dry cleaners and laundry NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 
Pharmacies, durable medical goods 
sales/rental 

NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A NP 

Open air businesses, as a principal use NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Open air businesses, subordinate to principal 
use 

NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 

Motel, hotel, extended stay or all-suite 
residences 

NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP S NP 

Conference, meeting, and banquet facilities  NP NP NP NP S NP P P P NP P S 
Personal services NP NP NP A NP NP P P P NP A A 
Home service repair NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP A A 
Photographic studios NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
Financial institutions NP NP NP A NP NP P P P P P P 
Commercial kennels / pet day care NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Drive-up windows and service facilities as an 
accessory to principal uses 

NP NP NP NP NP NP S S A S S NP 

Theatres and places of assembly NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP NP 
Adult Use Businesses NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Office             
Offices, general NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
Professional and medical offices NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
Business services NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
Medical clinics NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
Hospitals NP NP NP NP S NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Veterinary clinics or hospitals NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P P P 
             



City of Troy 4 - 21 Article 4 
DRAFT DATE:  November 4, 2010 
 

Uses Districts 

 

R
-1

A
 -E

 

R
-1

T 

M
FR

 

U
R

 

C
-F

 

E-
P 

C
B

 

G
B

 

IB
 

O
 

O
M

 

R
C

 

Industrial 
Prototype or experimental product research 
and development  

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P 

Any use of basic research, design and pilot 
or experimental product development 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P 

Food processing NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Manufacturing and assembly NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Laboratories NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P P P P 
Warehouse and wholesale establishments 
and truck terminal facilities 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP

Central dry cleaning / laundry plants NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Outdoor storage facilities  NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S NP NP NP
Mini Warehouse or self-storage NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P NP NP NP
Automotive/Transportation             
Automobile, recreational vehicle sales NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Vehicle repair stations NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Vehicle service stations NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Vehicle washes  NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Vehicle auctions NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Antique and classic vehicle sales NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S S NP NP NP 
Ambulance facilities NP NP NP NP NP NP S S S NP NP NP 
Vehicle rental NP NP NP NP NP NP S S S NP NP NP 
Miscellaneous             
Accessory buildings and uses  A A A A A NP A A A A A A 
Agriculture P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 
Cemeteries P P P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 
Mortuary Establishments NP NP NP NP P NP P P P NP NP NP 
Family Day Care Homes P P P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 
Group Day Care Homes P P P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 
Child Care Centers and Preschools S S P P P NP P P P P P P 
Adult Foster Care Facilities P P P P P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 
Private Clubs, Fraternal Organizations and 
Lodge Halls 

NP NP NP NP S NP S S P S S NP 

Parking garages and off-street parking areas 
as a principal use 

NP NP NP NP S NP S S P S S S 

Utility and Public Service Buildings and 
facilities (without storage yards) 

S S S S P NP P P P P P P 

Utility and Public Service Buildings and 
facilities (with outdoor storage yards) 

NP NP NP NP S NP NP NP S S S S 

 


	AGENDA - November 9, 2010
	1.  ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	October 26, 2010 Special/Study Meeting

	4. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW(File Number SU 384)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps
	Planning Consultant Report
	PEA Trip Generation and Turn Lane Evaluation
	PEA Parking Analysis 
	OHM Parking Analysis and Traffic Analysis
	Site Plan

	6. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 965) – Proposed Alpha Dental Center,405 E. Maple Road, Northeast Corner of Maple and Kirkton, Section 27, Currently Zoned O-1(Office Building) District
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Maps
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan

	7. COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE REWRITE - Discussion with Representatives from Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. - Article 4 District Regulations
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Article 4 Zoning Districts and Map




